Governance Rule

Meeting Procedure

Version Number	1
Approved by	Council
Approval date	August 2020
Effective date	1 September 2020
Date of last revision	
Date of next review*	August 2024
Responsible Manager	Executive Manager Governance, Communications and Engagement

Unless replaced, this policy will still apply beyond the review date.

Related internal policies, procedures and guidelines	 Governance Rules Public Transparency Principles Community Engagement Policy
Related legislation	 Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 Local Government Act 2020 Equal Opportunity Act 2010



Contents

Section	on 1 - Preliminary	1
1.	Objectives	1
2.	Power to make this Governance Rule	1
3.	Operational date	
4.	Scope of this Governance Rule	
5.	Definitions	
Section	on 2 - Procedure at Meetings	3
6.	Notices and Agendas	
7.	Quorum	
8.	Adjourned meetings	
9.	Chairperson	5
10.	Duties and responsibilities of the Chairperson	
11.	Order of Business of a Council Meeting	5
	Councillor Leave of Absence and Absence from Meeting	
13.	Recording of Meetings	6
	Record of Proceedings	
15.	Confirmation of Minutes	
16.	No debate on confirmation of minutes	8
17.	Publication of minutes	8
	Declaration of Conflicts of Interests	
19.	Presentations	8
20.	Petitions	8
21.	Public Question Time	9
22.	Addressing the Meeting1	0
23.	Form of Motions or Amendments1	0
24.	Introducing a Motion1	1
25.	Moving an Amendment1	1
26.	Right of Reply and Debate of Motion or Amendment1	2
27.	How Many Amendments may be proposed1	2

28.	An Amendment Once Carried	.12
29.	Foreshadowing Motions	.12
30.	Withdrawal of Motions	.13
31.	Priority of Address and Right to Speak to Motion	.13
32.	Debate of the Motion	.13
33.	Debate from the Chair	.13
34.	Resumption of adjourned debate	.14
	Lost Motions	
	Separation of a Motion	
37.	Deferral of a Motion	.14
38.	Time limits	.14
39.	Voting	.14
40.	Recount of vote	.15
41.	Casting Vote	.15
42.	Division	.15
43.	Declaration of vote	.15
44.	Resolution not to be discussed after it is carried	.15
45.	Recording of opposition to motion	.16
46.	Points of order	.16
47.	Chairperson to decide Point of order	.16
48.	Disagreement with Chairperson's ruling	.16
	Procedural Motions	
50.	Repetitious Motions	.20
	Notices of motion	
52.	Notice of Rescission or Amendment	.21
53.	Urgent business	.22
54.	Suspension of this Rule	.22
55.	Adjournments	.23
56.	Notice for Adjourned Council Meeting	.23
57.	Priority of address	.23

Section	on 3 - Conduct during Council Meetings	23
58.	Councillor conduct	23
59.	Ordering withdrawal of remark	24
60.	Removal from Chamber	24
61.	Suspensions	24
62.	Gallery to be silent	24
63.	Questions from Councillors	24
64.	Procedure not provided in this Rule	25
65.	Extraordinary Meeting	25
66.	Delegated Committees	25
67.	Submissions by any person whose rights will be directly affected by a Council decision	26
68.	Other public submissions	26
APPE	NDIX 1	27
1.	Cross-Reference to Local Government Act 2020	27

Section 1 - Preliminary

1. Objectives

The objectives of this Governance Rule are to:

- a) Regulate proceedings at Council meetings, or a delegated Committee meeting and other meetings conducted by or on behalf of Council where Council has resolved that the provision of this meeting procedure are to apply;
- b) Facilitate community engagement by providing opportunities at meetings for community members to express their views;
- c) Ensure the efficient and orderly conduct of meetings; and
- d) Ensure the peace, order and good government of the municipal district.

2. Power to make this Governance Rule

This meeting procedure is made in accordance with section 60 of the *Local Government Act 2020.*

3. Operational date

This meeting procedure operates from 1 September 2020.

4. Scope of this Governance Rule

This meeting procedure shall apply to and have operation throughout the whole of the Municipal District of the Nillumbik Shire Council.

5. Definitions

Unless inconsistent with the subject matter, the following words have the meaning indicated:

Words	Meaning			
Act	Local Government Act 2020			
Agenda	a document, electronic or paper, in the form of a notice which specifies the date, time and place of a Meeting and the business to be transacted at the Meeting and includes any accompanying documents			
Absolute majority	The votes of the number of Councillors which is greater than half the total number of the Councillors of a Council			
Authorised Officer	a person appointed by the Council under section 224 of the <i>Local Government Act 1989</i>			
Business days	Monday to Friday inclusive of each week except for Public Holidays			

Words	Meaning		
Chairperson	the Chairperson of a meeting and includes an acting or temporary Chairperson		
Chief Executive Officer	the Chief Executive Officer of Council, and includes a person acting as Chief Executive Officer		
Clause	a clause of this Governance Rule		
Committee Meeting	a meeting of a Special Committee		
Council	Nillumbik Shire Council		
Councillor	a Councillor of Nillumbik Shire Council		
Council Meeting	any meeting of Council		
Delegated Committee	a delegated Committee established by Council under section 63 of the <i>Local Government Act 2020</i>		
Deputy Mayor	the Deputy Mayor of Council and any person acting as Deputy Mayor		
Mayor	the Mayor of Council and any person acting as Mayor		
Meeting	includes a Council meeting or a delegated committee meetin		
Minutes	the official written record of the proceedings and decisions of a meeting which have been signed by the Mayor/Chairperson		
Motion	a proposal framed in a way that will result in the opinion of th Council being expressed or a Council decision being made		
Municipal district	the area from time to time comprising the municipal district of Council		
Notice of Motion	a notice setting out the text of a motion which a Councillor or a Committee member proposes to move at the next relevant meeting		
Point of order	a procedural point, not involving the substance of a matter before a meeting		
Procedural Motion	a motion which relates to a procedural matter only and which is not designed to produce any substantive result but used merely as a formal procedural measure.		
Resident	a person who has a place of residence within the municipal district		

Words	Meaning		
Visitor	any person (other than a Councillor or member of Council staff) who is in attendance at a Council Meeting or a delegated committee meeting		
Written	includes duplicated, photocopied, photographed, transmitted by facsimile, transmitted electronically, printed or typed		

Section 2 - Procedure at Meetings

6. Notices and Agendas

6.1 Date, time and place of meetings

The dates, times and places of Council Meetings are within the discretion of Council.

Council may, by resolution, at a Meeting alter the day and time upon which any Meeting shall be held.

A Meeting must start within 30 minutes of the advertised start time.

A Meeting may not continue after 10.30pm unless a Majority of Councillors present vote in favour of its continuance. In the absence of such continuance, a Meeting must stand adjourned to a time, date and place announced by the Chairperson immediately before the standing Meeting is adjourned.

6.2 Notice of Meeting

The Chief Executive Officer must give notice including on Council's website of the date, time and place of a meeting giving adequate time for members of the municipal community to make arrangements to attend the meeting or view the meeting via the livestream unless urgent or extraordinary circumstances prevent compliance with this clause.

The Chief Executive Officer must ensure that the agenda for any Meeting is provided to every Councillor or delegated committee member with adequate time for Councillors or members to prepare adequately for the meeting.

6.3 Attendance at meetings

In accordance with section 66(1) of the Act, all Meetings of Council must be open to members of the public unless section 66(2) of the Act applies.

Council may resolve, in accordance with section 66(2) of the Act, that its Meeting be closed to members of the public because:

- a) the meeting is to consider confidential information; or
- b) security reasons; or
- c) it is necessary to do so to enable the meeting to proceed in an orderly manner.

6.4 Business to be transacted

No business shall be transacted at a Council Meeting unless it appears on the agenda.

Notwithstanding the above, an item of business which has:

- a) been referred to Council by a delegated committee which has met since the agenda was prepared; or
- b) arisen since the preparation of the agenda, and is of such importance that deliberation by Council cannot be delayed,

may be considered by Council only if admitted in accordance with the provisions of clause 53 – Urgent Business.

7. Quorum

The quorum in relation to Council Meetings is an absolute majority.

The quorum in relation to delegated committee meetings is the number of members, which is greater than half the total number of members of the committee.

7.1 Failure to raise or maintain a quorum

If after 30 minutes from the scheduled starting time of any Meeting, a quorum cannot be obtained:

- a) those Members present; or
- b) if there are no Members present, the Chief Executive Officer; or,
- c) in the absence of the Chief Executive Officer, an Authorised Officer,

must adjourn the Meeting for a period within four (4) weeks from the date of the Meeting.

7.2 Council decision making where quorum cannot be maintained

If the meeting cannot be maintained due to the temporary absence of Councillors, the Chairperson can temporarily adjourn the meeting for up to 15 minutes.

If during any Council Meeting it becomes apparent to the Chairperson that it will not be possible to maintain a quorum due to the number of Councillors who have disclosed a conflict of interest in an item of business and will be unable to vote Council must consider whether:

- a) the decision can be made in an alternative manner by dealing with the matter in separate parts; or
- b) by making decisions on component parts in which conflicts arise before the overall decision is voted upon.

If not, Council must decide to establish a delegated committee to make the decision in accordance with s 67(4) of the Act.

If during any Meeting or any adjournment of the Meeting, a quorum cannot be maintained for any other reason:

c) those Councillors present; or

- d) if there are no Councillors present, the Chief Executive Officer; or,
- e) in the absence of the Chief Executive Officer, an Authorised Officer,
- f) must adjourn the Meeting for a period not exceeding seven (7) days from the date of the Meeting.

8. Adjourned meetings

Council may, by Resolution, adjourn any Meeting to a later time on the same day, or for a period not exceeding seven (7) days.

The Chief Executive Officer, or an Authorised Officer, must give notice to each Councillor of the date, time and place to which the Meeting stands adjourned and of the business remaining to be considered.

9. Chairperson

The Mayor must preside at all Meetings at which he or she is present, in the role of Chairperson.

In the absence of the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor must preside at any Meeting at which he or she is present, in the role of Chairperson.

In the event that both the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are absent, Council must elect a Chairperson to preside at that Meeting, in accordance with the provisions of the Governance Rule – Election of the Mayor and Deputy Mayor 1.1.

10. Duties and responsibilities of the Chairperson

The duties and responsibilities of the Chairperson are to:

- a) formally declare a Meeting open, after ascertaining that a quorum is present, and to welcome guest speakers and other visitors;
- b) preside over and control the Meeting, and to conduct it impartially and according to the rules to ensure the smooth passage of business;
- c) sign Minutes of Meetings as correct when they have been confirmed;
- d) ensure that debates are conducted in the correct manner;
- e) declare the results of all votes;
- f) give rulings on Points of Order and other questions of procedure;
- g) preserve order, and if necessary, "name" offending Councillors;
- h) adjourn (when so resolved) or formally declare the Meeting closed when all business has been concluded.

11. Order of Business of a Council Meeting

The order in which business is listed on the agenda is determined by the Chief Executive Officer in consultation with the Mayor and should be kept consistent from meeting to meeting in order to facilitate and maintain open, efficient and effective processes of government.

The Chief Executive Officer may include any matter on the agenda that he or she believes should be considered by the Council.

Once an Agenda has been sent to Councillors, the order of business for that meeting may be altered with the consent of the majority of the Councillors at that Meeting.

12. Councillor Leave of Absence and Absence from Meeting

Any Councillor seeking leave of absence from Council duties must do so in writing addressed to the Chief Executive Officer. Applications for leave shall be listed for consideration at the next Ordinary Meeting of Council and the Council must not unreasonably refuse to grant the request for leave of absence.

Where leave of absence has been granted to a Councillor, the Chief Executive Officer must record the leave of absence in the Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting held during the period of the leave of absence.

If Councillor intends to be absent from a Meeting, the Councillor must give the Chairperson of that Meeting a notice of apology prior to the Meeting.

If a Councillor is an apology at a Council Meeting, or delegated committee meeting the apology will be noted by resolution in the minutes.

13. Recording of Meetings

The Chief Executive Officer (or another person authorised by the Chief Executive Officer) may record, using electronic recording equipment, webcast or podcast the proceedings of a Council Meeting or Delegated Committee Meeting. Recordings must be retained for a minimum period of three months from the date of the Meeting.

Media representatives may with consent of the Chairperson be permitted to record, using electronic recording equipment, any part of the proceedings of a Council Meeting or Delegated Committee Meeting. The consent of the Chairperson must not be unreasonably withheld, but may be revoked at any time during the course of the relevant meeting.

Subject to this clause, members of the public must not operate electronic recording equipment (including mobile phones) at any Council Meeting or Delegated Committee Meeting without the prior written consent of Council. Such consent may be given only after receipt of a written application and may at any time during the course of such meeting be revoked by the Chairperson.

Members of the public are to be advised if the Meeting is being recorded (audio and video) by venue signage.

14. Record of Proceedings

The Chief Executive Officer (or other person authorised by the Chief Executive Officer to attend the meeting and to take the minutes of such meeting) must keep minutes of each Council Meeting, and Delegated Committee Meeting and those minutes must record:

- a) the names of the Councillors and/or committee members present and the names of the Councillors and/or committee members who have submitted apologies or have been granted leave of absence;
- b) the names of staff members present at the meeting;
- c) arrivals and departures (including temporary departures of Councillors and/or committee members during the course of the meeting);
- d) declarations of conflict of interest;

- e) each motion and amendment moved (including motions and amendments that lapse for the want of a seconder) and motions and amendments withdrawn by resolution or with the consent of both the mover and seconder of the motion or amendment;
- f) whether motions or amendments lapsed or were withdrawn, carried or lost;
- g) the vote cast (if any) by each Councillor and/or committee member upon a division, either for, against or abstaining, and the declaration of the result of the division on the motion or amendment;
- h) questions from the gallery and responses to those questions;
- i) the failure of a quorum;
- j) closure of the meeting to members of the public in accordance with the provisions of section 66(2) of the Act;
- k) when specifically requested by a Councillor or delegated committee member, a record of their support or opposition for any motion;
- I) a summary of all committee reports presented to Council;
- m) the time and reason for any adjournment of the meeting or suspension of standing orders; and
- n) any other matter which the Chief Executive Officer (or other person authorised by the Chief Executive Officer) thinks should be recorded to clarify the intention of the meeting or the reading of the minutes.
- o) The minutes must be documented and each item numbered consecutively.

15. Confirmation of Minutes

At every Meeting the Minutes of the preceding Meeting must be dealt with as follows:

- a) a copy of the Minutes must be delivered to each Councillor no later than 72 hours before the next Meeting;
- b) if no Councillor indicates opposition, the Minutes must be declared to be confirmed;
- c) subject to clause 16, if a Councillor indicates opposition to the Minutes:
 - i. he or she must specify the item(s) to which he or she objects;
 - ii. the objected item(s) must be considered separately and in the order in which they appear in the Minutes;
 - iii. the Councillor objecting must move accordingly without speaking to the motion;
 - iv. the motion must be seconded;
 - v. the Chairperson must ask:

"Is the motion opposed?"

vi. if no Councillor indicates opposition, the Chairperson must declare the motion carried without discussion and ask the second question described in paragraph x.;

- vii. if a Councillor indicates opposition, the Chairperson must call on the mover to address the Meeting;
- viii. after the mover has addressed the Meeting, the seconder may address the Meeting;
- ix. after the seconder has addressed the Meeting (or after the mover has addressed the Meeting if the seconder does not), the Chairperson must invite debate by calling on any Councillor who wishes to speak to the motion, providing an opportunity to alternate between those wishing to speak against the motion and those wishing to speak for the motion;
- x. if, after the mover has addressed the Meeting, the Chairperson invites debate and no Councillor speaks to the motion, the Chairperson must put the motion and, after all objections have been dealt with, ultimately ask:

"That the Minutes be confirmed" or

"That the Minutes, as amended, be confirmed",

and he or she must then put the question to the vote.

xi. a Resolution of Council must confirm the Minutes and the Minutes must, if practicable, be signed by the Chairperson of the Meeting at which they have been confirmed.

16. No debate on confirmation of minutes

No discussion or debate on the confirmation of minutes will be permitted except where their accuracy as a record of proceedings of the meeting to which they relate is questioned.

17. Publication of minutes

Council will endeavour to provide the Minutes of its Meetings on the Nillumbik Shire Council's website within three (3) business days of the meeting.

18. Declaration of Conflicts of Interests

Conflicts of Interest are to be disclosed in accordance with Governance Rule – Procedure for Disclosure of Conflicts of Interest.

19. Presentations

At each Council Meeting, presentations of monetary grants, certificates of appreciation or other acknowledgements that recognise the outstanding achievements of local individuals and organisations who have made a significant contribution to Nillumbik, may be made by the Mayor or Councillors.

20. Petitions

A person may lodge a petition with Council, provided that if the petition is lodged one week prior to the next Council Meeting it will be included in the Council agenda for that meeting.

A person lodging a petition is to ensure that the petition contains:

a) a clear and concise statement identifying the subject matter;

- b) a heading on each page indicating the subject matter;
- c) a brief statement on each page of the subject matter and the action requested;
- d) a statement specifying the number of signatories; and

the full printed name, address and signature of the person lodging the petition at the end of the petition.

Petitions must not be indecent, abusive or objectionable in language or substance.

Every page of the petition must bear the wording of the whole of the petition or request and include the name, address and signature of petitioners.

Signatures appearing on a page of a petition which does not bear the wording of the whole of the petition or request, must not be considered by Council.

Petitions presented to Council must be written (other than Pencil). Any resident of Victoria may sign a petition.

The Council may, by resolution, accept electronic petitions if it is satisfied that the petition is authentic and has been received from a legitimate website.

A petition will be presented by a Councillor at the Council Meeting

The Councillor presenting the petition:

- e) shall identify the issue;
- f) shall state the number of signatures attached to the petition;
- g) shall read the petition in full or precis form; and
- h) may move 'That the petition be received and noted' and any other action appropriate.

In the case of a petition containing fewer than 15 signatures, it will not be presented at the Council meeting and will, instead, be forwarded to the relevant Director or Executive Manager for response.

21. Public Question Time

There shall be a public question time at every Council Meeting to enable members of the public to address questions to Council. Questions may be delivered to the Civic Centre or submitted electronically through Council's website. All such questions must be received by the Chief Executive Officer or other person authorised for this purpose by the Chief Executive Officer no later than 5pm on the day prior to the advertised date of the Council Meeting.

Questions are limited to a maximum of two questions per individual. Questioners are expected to disclose any personal or professional interests in the subject matter of their questions on the question forms available at the Civic Centre or on Council's website.

All such questions must be received in writing and must include the name of the person asking the question. Where there are more than two questions received from any person, the Chief Executive Officer will determine the two questions to be read and answered at the meeting.

A question will only be read to the meeting if the Chairperson and/or Chief Executive Officer has determined that the question:

a) is a question and not a statement or opinion;

- b) is not indecent, abusive or objectionable in language or obscene;
- c) is not repeating a question already answered whether at the same or an earlier meeting;
- d) is not, in the opinion of the Chairperson or Chief Executive Officer, asked to embarrass a Councillor or an officer; and
- e) does not relate to a matter which the Council has discussed in camera or proposes to discuss after closing the meeting to members of the public in accordance with section 66(2) of the Act.

The procedure and sequence for dealing with a question is that the Chairperson:

- f) shall name the questioner and enquire if they are present in the gallery;
- g) shall read out the question provided the questioner is present; and
- h) may answer the question or direct the question as he/she deems appropriate.

Questions must be answered, taken on notice or disallowed. All questions and answers shall be as brief as possible.

Question time shall be limited to a period of up to 30 minutes.

Council will allocate a reasonable time to each person who wishes to address a question to Council having regard to:

- i) the nature of the matter to be discussed;
- j) the priorities in relation to other Council business;
- k) other members of the community present who also wish to address a question to Council, and
- I) the overall time limit for question time.

22. Addressing the Meeting

Except for the Chairperson, any Councillor or person who addresses the meeting must direct all remarks through the Chair.

Any person addressing the Chair must refer to the Chairperson as:

- a) Mayor; or
- b) Mr Mayor; or
- c) Madam Mayor; or
- d) Chair; or
- e) Mr Chairperson; or
- f) Madam Chairperson
- as appropriate.

Councillors and members of Council staff in speaking must address each other by their titles of Councillor or officer as the case may be.

23. Form of Motions or Amendments

A motion or an amendment:

a) must relate to the powers or functions of Council;

- b) may be in writing or oral however, the Chairperson may require that complex or detailed motions be in writing and tabled when the motion or amendment is moved; and
- c) except in the case of urgent business, must be relevant to an item of business on the agenda.

The Chairperson may temporarily adjourn the Meeting while the motion is being written or may defer the matter in the order of business, until the motion has been written.

A motion or amendment must be clear and unambiguous and must not be defamatory or objectionable in language or nature.

The Chairperson may refuse to accept any motion or amendment which contravenes this clause.

24. Introducing a Motion

The procedure for moving any motion at a Meeting is as follows:

- a) the mover must state the subject and nature of the motion and not speak to it;
- b) the motion must be seconded by a Councillor other than the mover. If there is no seconder for a motion, the Chairperson must declare the motion to have lapsed;
- c) if the motion is moved and seconded the Chairperson must ask whether the motion is opposed and/or whether any Councillor wishes to speak to the motion;
- d) if no Councillor indicates opposition or a desire to speak to the motion, the Chairperson may declare the motion carried without discussion;
- e) if a Councillor indicates opposition or a desire to speak to the motion :
 - i. the Chairperson must call the mover to address Council upon it;
 - ii. after the mover has spoken, the Chairperson must call upon the seconder to address the meeting;
 - iii. after the seconder has addressed the meeting (or after the mover if the seconder does not wish to speak) the Chairperson must call upon the first speaker in opposition to address the meeting;
 - iv. after the mover, seconder and first speaker in opposition have had the opportunity to address the Meeting the Chairperson will call for speakers for and against the motion or amendment in alternate sequence until the sequence of speakers is exhausted; and
 - v. a Councillor may only speak once on the motion or amendment.

A Councillor calling the attention of the Chairperson to a Point of Order is not regarded as speaking to the motion.

25. Moving an Amendment

A motion which has been moved and seconded, in accordance with clause 24 a) and b) may be amended by leaving out or adding words. Any added words must be relevant to the subject of the motion.

An amendment may be moved or seconded by any Councillor, except the mover or seconder of the original motion;

If any Councillor intends to move an amendment, he or she must give notice of that intention prior to the right of reply being exercised.

A motion to confirm a previous Resolution of Council cannot be amended.

An Amendment must not be the negative of, or substantially contrary to, the original motion.

The mover of an amendment may with the consent of the seconder, change the wording of the proposed amendment.

If an amendment is adopted it becomes the substantive motion and, unless subject to further amendment and debate, must be put to the vote by the Chairperson.

26. Right of Reply and Debate of Motion or Amendment

If there has been any opposition to a motion, the mover of a motion has the right of reply to these issues.

The mover of an amendment has no right of reply.

Subject to any Councillor exercising his or her right to ask any question concerning or arising out of a motion, the Chairperson must put the motion to the vote immediately after the mover of the motion has spoken in reply.

Any one Councillor cannot move more than two (2) amendments in succession.

Any Councillor can debate an amendment irrespective of whether the Councillor has spoken or proposes to speak to the original motion.

Debate on an amendment must be confined to the terms of the amendment.

27. How Many Amendments may be proposed

Any number of Amendments may be proposed to a motion but only one (1) Amendment may be accepted by the Chairperson at any one (1) time.

No second or subsequent Amendment, whether to the motion or an Amendment of it, may be taken into consideration until the previous Amendment has been dealt with.

28. An Amendment Once Carried

If the Amendment is carried, the amended motion then becomes the substantive motion before the Meeting and can be further amended.

The mover of the original motion retains the right of reply to the substantive motion.

29. Foreshadowing Motions

At any time during debate a Councillor may foreshadow a motion to inform the Meeting of his or her intention to move a motion at a later stage in the Meeting. This does not extend to any special right to the foreshadowed motion.

A motion foreshadowed may be prefaced with a statement that in the event of a particular motion before the Chairperson being resolved in a certain way, a Councillor intends to move an alternative or additional motion.

A foreshadowed motion has no procedural standing and is merely a means of assisting the flow of a Meeting, the Chief Executive Officer or an authorised officer is not required to record foreshadowed motions in the minutes.

30. Withdrawal of Motions

Subject to this clause, only with the leave of the Chairperson, and the consent of the mover and seconder, can a motion or amendment to a motion be withdrawn.

If the majority of Councillors objects to the withdrawal of the motion, it may not be withdrawn.

31. Priority of Address and Right to Speak to Motion

In the case of competition for the right to speak, the Chairperson must decide the order in which the Councillors concerned will be heard.

A Councillor may speak once on a motion and once on an amendment, except for the mover of a motion who has the right to speak in reply to any opposition to the motion.

32. Debate of the Motion

Debate must always be relevant to the motion before the Chairperson, and, if not, the Chairperson must request the speaker to confine the debate to the motion.

If the speaker continues to debate irrelevant matters after being requested to confine debate the Chairperson may direct the speaker to be seated and not to speak further in respect of the motion before the Chairperson.

A speaker to whom a direction has been given under this clause must comply with that direction.

Councillors may remain seated to address the Chairperson, to move or second a motion or amendment, or to take part in a debate.

The Councillor acknowledged by the Chairperson is to speak and must not be interrupted unless:

- a) he or she is called to order; or
- b) his or her speaking time has expired; or
- c) a Point of Order is raised.

Councillors must address each other by their official titles during debate and throughout a Meeting.

33. Debate from the Chair

The Chairperson should seek to refrain from debate on motions. The Chairperson may however choose to exercise a right to speak in favour of or against a motion and where this is the case, the Chairperson must advise the Council of their intention and stand while speaking to the matter under discussion.

Where the Chairperson wishes to move or second a motion, they must temporarily vacate the Chair before the motion is considered by Council. A temporary Chairperson must be elected in the same manner as the second temporary chairperson is elected in accordance with Governance Rule – Election of Mayor and Deputy Mayor Clause 1.1.

34. Resumption of adjourned debate

The business to which the debate relates must be placed on the Agenda of the meeting to which it is adjourned. Adjourned business should have priority over any other business except formal business.

If a debate is adjourned by motion, the Councillor moving the adjournment has the right to be the first speaker upon the resumption of debate unless he or she has already spoken to the motion or amendment.

35. Lost Motions

Councillors should move a motion detailing further requirements or actions after any motion which is lost.

36. Separation of a Motion

Where a motion contains more than one part, a Councillor may request the Chairperson to put the motion to the vote in separate parts. If the Chairperson does not consent to the request then Council may determine the matter in accordance with clause 49 - Disagreement with the Chairperson's ruling.

37. Deferral of a Motion

Council may defer an item until later in the meeting or until another meeting as appropriate if further consideration or clarification is required prior to a decision being made. The decision to defer an item is a substantive motion, and may be debated.

38. Time limits

A Councillor must not speak longer than the time set out below, unless granted an extension by the Chairperson;

- a) the mover of a motion or an amendment five (5) minutes;
- b) the seconder of a motion or an amendment three (3) minutes;
- c) any other Councillor three (3) minutes; and
- d) the mover of a motion exercising a right of reply two (2) minutes.

39. Voting

Voting shall be in accordance with the Act. A matter will be determined in the affirmative if the majority of Councillors at a meeting at the time the vote is taken vote in favour of it.

A Councillor has the right to abstain from voting.

Councillors must remain seated in silence while a vote is being taken

Unless Council resolves otherwise, voting on any matter will be by a clear show of hands so that the Chairperson can easily record the count.

Section 61(5)(e) of the Act provides that in determining the result of a vote, a Councillor present at the meeting who does not vote is to be taken to have voted against the matter.

40. Recount of vote

The Chairperson may direct that the vote be re-counted as often as may be necessary for him or her to satisfy himself or herself of the result.

41. Casting Vote

In the event of an equality of votes, the Chairperson has a casting vote.

This clause does not apply in the event of an equal number of votes in respect of the election of the Mayor or Deputy Mayor or in cases where the Act provides that a matter is to be determined by lot.

42. Division

Immediately after any matter is voted upon and before the next item of business has commenced, a Councillor may call for a division.

When a division is called, the vote already taken must be treated as a nullity and the voting by division shall decide the motion or amendment. Any Councillor may change their original vote at the voting on the division.

When a division is called, the Chairperson must:

- a) first ask each Councillor wishing to vote in the affirmative to raise a hand and, upon such request being made, each Councillor wishing to vote must raise one of his or her hands. The Chairperson must then state, and the Chief Executive Officer (or any person authorised by the Chief Executive Officer to attend the meeting and take the minutes of such meeting) must record the names of those Councillors voting in the affirmative; and
- b) then ask each Councillor wishing to vote in the negative to raise a hand and, upon such request being made, each Councillor wishing to vote in the negative must raise one of his or her hands. The Chairperson must then state, and the Chief Executive Officer (or any person authorised by the Chief Executive Officer to attend the meeting and take the minutes of such meeting) must record the names of those Councillors voting in the negative; and
- c) if required, then ask each Councillor wishing to abstain from voting to raise a hand and, upon such request being made, each Councillor wishing to abstain from voting must raise one of his or her hands. The Chairperson must then state, and the Chief Executive Officer (or any person authorised by the Chief Executive Officer to attend the meeting and take the minutes of such meeting), must record the names of those Councillors abstaining from voting.

In determining the result of a vote, an abstention is counted as a vote in the negative.

43. Declaration of vote

The Chairperson must declare the result of the vote as soon as it is taken.

44. Resolution not to be discussed after it is carried

Except in the case of a motion of rescission or alteration or a Councillor wishing to have his or her opposition to the motion recorded, no resolution may be discussed after the vote upon it has been declared.

45. Recording of opposition to motion

Any Councillor may ask that his or her opposition to a motion adopted by the meeting be recorded. It must then be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

46. Points of order

A point of order is taken when a Councillor officially draws the attention of the Chairperson to an alleged irregularity in the proceedings that contravenes this Governance Rule, any other Governance Rule or the Act.

Councillors raising a Point of order must:

- a) state the Point of order; and
- b) state any section, clause, paragraph or provision relevant to the Point of order.

A Councillor may raise a Point of order by drawing the attention of the Chairperson to:

- c) the fact that a Councillor or Councillor is out of order; or
- d) an act of disorder, despite the fact that the Chairperson or a Councillor is speaking at the time.

When called to order, a Councillor must sit down and remain silent until the Point of order is decided unless he or she is requested by the Chairperson to provide an explanation.

The Chairperson may raise a Point of order without it having been raised by a Councillor.

A Point of order takes precedence over all other business, including procedural motions.

47. Chairperson to decide Point of order

The Chairperson may adjourn the meeting to consider a Point of order, but must otherwise rule upon it as soon as it is taken.

If called upon to do so by a Councillor, the Chairperson must, when ruling on a point of order, state the provision of this Rule, another Governance Rule or the Act which is relied on in support of the ruling.

48. Disagreement with Chairperson's ruling

A Councillor may move that the meeting disagree with the Chairperson's ruling on a point of order.

When a motion in accordance with this clause is moved and seconded the Chairperson must leave the Chair and a temporary Chairperson, being the Deputy Mayor if present at the meeting, must take his or her place. If Council has not elected a Deputy Mayor or the Deputy Mayor is absent from a meeting of Council, the Chief Executive Officer must take the Chair and invite nominations for a temporary Chairperson. If there is only one nomination (which must be moved and seconded), the candidate nominated is deemed to have been duly elected. If there is more than one nomination, the procedure for the election of the Mayor in Governance Rule – Election of Mayor and Deputy Mayor should be followed.

The temporary Chairperson must invite the mover to state the reasons for his or her dissent and the Chairperson may then reply.

The temporary Chairperson then puts a motion in the following form:

'That the Chairperson's ruling be upheld'.

If the vote is in the:

- a) affirmative, the Chairperson resumes the Chair and the meeting proceeds.
- b) negative, the Chairperson resumes the Chair, reverses his or her previous ruling and the meeting proceeds.

The defeat of the Chairperson's ruling is in no way a motion of censure or no-confidence and should not be regarded as such by the meeting.

49. Procedural Motions

A procedural motion is one dealing with the conduct of the meeting itself, and takes precedence over a substantive motion.

A procedural motion may be moved at any time and must be dealt with immediately by the Chairperson in accordance with the procedural motion table below.

A procedural motion requires a seconder.

The mover of a procedural motion must not have moved or seconded the question before the Chair or any amendment of it.

A procedural motion cannot be moved by the Chairperson.

The mover has the right or obligation to justify the procedural motion, thereafter debate is not permitted unless allowed at the discretion of the Chairperson and the mover does not have a right of reply.

A procedural motion cannot be amended.

Procedural Motion Table

Procedural Motion	Form	Mover and seconder	When Motion prohibited	Effect if carried	Effect if lost	Debate permitted on Motion
1 Adjournment of debate to later hour and/or date	That this matter be adjourned to *am/pm and/or * date	Any Councillor who has not moved or seconded the substantive motion or otherwise spoken to the substantive motion	a. During the election of a Chairperson;b. When another Councillor is speaking	Motion and amendment is postponed to the stated time and/or date	Debate continues unaffected	Yes
2. Adjournment of debate indefinitely	That this matter be adjourned until further notice	Any Councillor who has not moved or seconded the substantive motion or otherwise spoken to the substantive motion	 a. During the election of a Chairperson; b. When another Councillor is speaking; or c. When the motion would have the effect of causing Council to be in breach of a legislative requirement 	Motion and any amendment postponed but may be resumed at any later Meeting if on the Agenda	Debate continues unaffected	Yes
3. The closure	That the motion be now put	Any Councillor who has not moved or seconded the substantive	During nominations for Chairperson	Motion or amendment in respect of which the closure is carried is put to the vote immediately without debate subject to	Debate continues unaffected	No

Procedural Motion	Form	Mover and seconder	When Motion prohibited	Effect if carried	Effect if lost	Debate permitted on Motion
		motion or otherwise spoken to the substantive motion		any Councillor exercising his or her right to ask any question concerning or arising out of the motion		
6. Proceeding to next business	That the Meeting proceed to the next business Note: This Motion: a. May not be amended; b. May not be debated; and c. Must be put to the vote as soon as seconded	Any Councillor who has not moved or seconded the substantive motion or otherwise spoken to the substantive motion	 a. During the election of a Chairperson; b. When another Councillor is speaking; or c. When a motion would have the effect of causing Council be in in a breach of a legislative requirement 	 If carried in respect of a. An amendment, Council considers the motion without reference to the amendment; b. A motion – no vote or further discussion on the motion until it is placed on an Agenda for a later Council Meeting 	Debate continues unaffected	No

50. Repetitious Motions

Once a Meeting has rejected a motion, with or without amendment, similar motions to the same effect, even in a different form, are considered to be out of order at that Meeting. A motion similar to an amendment to a motion already dealt with at a Meeting is also not permissible. However, the matter can be legitimately raised again at a subsequent Meeting in accordance with the provisions of this Meeting Procedure.

51. Notices of motion

Subject to clause 6.4 of this Rule, a Councillor may move a motion if notice of such motion has been given in accordance with this Rule.

A Notice of Motion must be lodged with the Chief Executive Officer in writing by 12 noon one week prior to the Council Meeting at which it is to be considered. Any Notice of Motion received after that time must, be included on the agenda for the following Council Meeting, unless withdrawn in writing.

A Councillor may also give a Notice of Motion at a Council Meeting in which case, the item will be listed at the next following Meeting of Council.

The full text of the proposed motion must be included on the agenda. No other explanatory information will be included on the agenda.

The Chief Executive Officer may reject a Notice of Motion if he or she is of the opinion that it is:

- a) defamatory;
- b) objectionable in language or nature;
- c) vague or unclear in intention;
- d) is identical or substantially similar to a Notice of Motion or other motion that has been considered by Council in the preceding two (2) months;
- e) may be prejudicial to any person or Council;
- f) can be addressed through the operational service request process;
- g) outside the powers of Council.

If the Chief Executive Officer rejects a Notice of Motion under this clause the Chief Executive Officer must:

- h) Give the Councillor who lodged it an opportunity to amend it, if practical to do so; and
- i) If the Notice of Motion cannot be amended to the satisfaction of the Chief Executive Officer, notify the Councillor who lodged it that it will be rejected and explain the reasons for the rejection.
- j) The Chief Executive Officer must cause all Notices of Motion to be numbered, dated and entered in the Notice of Motion Register in the order in which they are received.

Except by leave of the Council, each Notice of Motion before any meeting must be considered in the order in which it was entered in the Notice of Motion Register.

If a Councillor who has given a Notice of Motion:

- k) is absent from the meeting; or
- I) fails to move the motion when called upon by the Chairperson;

any other Councillor may move the motion.

If the motion is not moved and seconded then the Notice of Motion lapses. If a Notice of Motion is lost or lapses a similar motion may not be submitted for two (2) months from the date it was lost or lapsed.

If a Councillor proposing a Notice of Motion wishes to amend the Notice of Motion he/she may do so by seeking leave of Council to amend the Notice of Motion prior to it being seconded.

Except where the Notice of Motion is to confirm a previous resolution of Council, the Notice of Motion may be amended by resolution of Council.

If a Notice of Motion, whether amended or not, is lost, a similar motion cannot again be put before Council for a period of two calendar months from the date it was lost.

A preamble to a Notice of Motion is an explanatory statement that explains the purpose of the Notice of Motion. A Councillor lodging a Notice of Motion must ensure that the content of any preamble provided remains factual.

52. Notice of Rescission or Amendment

A notice of rescission or amendment is a form of Notice of Motion. Accordingly, all provisions in this Governance Rule relating to Notice of Motion equally apply to notices of rescission and amendment.

A rescission motion is a motion to rescind or vary a previous decision of Council.

Motions to rescind or amend a previous resolution must be submitted to the Chief Executive Officer in writing by a minimum of two Councillors and must:

- a) identify the resolution which is proposed to be rescinded or amended; and
- b) the date of the meeting that the resolution was carried.

The Chief Executive Officer must include the notice of rescission on the agenda for the next Council Meeting provided that:

- c) The notice of rescission has been submitted no later than 12 noon 7 days prior to the next Council Meeting; and
- d) The resolution proposed to be rescinded has not already been acted upon.

The Chief Executive Officer or an appropriate member of Council staff may implement a resolution at any time after the close of the meeting at which it was made. A resolution will therefore be deemed to have been acted on if:

- e) its contents have or substance has been formally communicated to a person whose interests are materially affected by it; or
- f) a statutory process has been commenced

so as to vest enforceable rights in or obligations on Council or any other person.

Under section 19(1)(c) of the Act, the Mayor has the power to require the CEO to report to Council on the implementation of a Council decision.

The Chief Executive Officer or an appropriate member of Council staff must defer implementing a resolution which:

- g) has not been acted on; and
- h) is the subject of a notice of rescission which has been delivered to the Chief Executive Officer in accordance with this clause.

unless deferring implementation of the resolution would have the effect of depriving the resolution of efficacy.

A rescission motion listed on the agenda may be moved by any Councillor present but may not be amended.

A second or subsequent notice to rescind or alter an earlier resolution must not be accepted by the Chief Executive Officer until a period of two (2) months has elapsed since the date of the Meeting at which the original motion of rescission or alteration was dealt with, unless Council resolves that the matter be dealt with at a future meeting.

This clause will not apply if the CEO, in consultation with the Mayor, considers that significant new information has become available since the previous rescission motion that warrants inclusion of the subsequent rescission motion in the agenda.

If the rescission notion is not moved and seconded then the rescission notice lapses. If a rescission notice is lost or lapses a similar motion may not be submitted for two (2) months from the date it was lost or lapsed.

53. Urgent business

Business can only be admitted as urgent business by Resolution of the Meeting. A majority of Councillors present at a Council Meeting, or delegated committee meeting must vote in favour of admitting the item as urgent business.

Even if the required Councillors carry the motion, it still will not be accepted as urgent business unless it:

- a) relates to or arises out of a matter which has arisen since distribution of the Agenda; and
- b) cannot be deferred until the next Meeting without having a negative impact on the Council, and the local community; and
- c) The Chief Executive Officer will advise the Chairperson of any matter that he or she determines to be appropriate for Council to consider admitting as urgent business.

54. Suspension of this Rule

The provisions of this Rule applicable to a Council Meeting or delegated committee meeting may be suspended for a particular purpose upon the affirmative vote of the majority of Councillors in a Council Meeting, or members present in a delegated committee meeting present.

The suspension of such provisions should be used to enable full discussion of any major issue without the constraints of formal meeting procedure. Suspension of this Rule should not be used purely to dispense with the processes and protocols of this Rule.

Once the discussion has taken place, and before any motions can be put, the resumption of the Rule will be necessary.

No motion may be accepted by the Chairperson or be lawfully dealt with during any suspension of the Rule other than a motion to resume the operation of this Rule.

55. Adjournments

Once a Council Meeting is declared open, Council may, from time to time, resolve to adjourn the meeting:

- a) if the meeting becomes excessively disorderly and order cannot be restored; or
- b) to allow for additional information to be presented to a meeting; or
- c) in any other situation where an adjournment could aid the progress of the meeting.

No discussion is allowed on any motion for adjournment of the meeting, but if on being put the motion is lost, the subject then under consideration must be resolved before any subsequent motion for adjournment is made.

56. Notice for Adjourned Council Meeting

If a Council Meeting is adjourned, the Chief Executive Officer must ensure that the agenda for such a meeting is identical to the Agenda for the meeting which was resolved to be adjourned.

Except where a meeting is adjourned until later on the same day, the Chief Executive Officer must give all Councillors written notice of a new date for the continuation of the adjourned meeting and every reasonable attempt must be made to advise the public of the new meeting date.

Where it is not practical to provide written notice to Councillors because time does not permit that to occur then a reasonable attempt will be made to contact each Councillor, by telephone, electronic medium, or in person.

If circumstances prevent a meeting continuing until all business has been considered, then unless adjourned, the meeting will lapse and any unfinished business will be included on the agenda for the next meeting.

57. Priority of address

In the case of competition for the right to speak, the Chairperson must decide the order in which the Councillors concerned will be heard consistent with this Rule. Production of documents

A Councillor may request at a Council Meeting, the production of any documents in Council's keeping and relevant to the business being considered.

Upon any request being made the Chief Executive Officer must use his or her best endeavours to produce the documents.

Section 3 - Conduct during Council Meetings

58. Councillor conduct

A Councillor must comply with the Councillor Code of Conduct during the course of any meeting.

59. Ordering withdrawal of remark

The Chairperson may require a Councillor to withdraw any remark which is defamatory, indecent, abusive or offensive in language or substance, or that is disorderly or capable of being applied offensively to any other Councillor or member of Council staff, and/or make a satisfactory apology to the Meeting.

A Councillor required to withdraw a remark and/or make an apology must do so immediately without qualification or explanation.

A Councillor must not fail to withdraw a remark or make an apology if twice called to do so by the Chairperson.

60. Removal from Chamber

Under section 19 of the Act, the Mayor has the power to direct a Councillor, subject to any procedures or limitations in this Rule, to leave a Council meeting if the behaviour of the Councillor is preventing the Council from conducting its business.

If a person (including a Councillor) does not leave the meeting when ordered to leave under clause 61 or clause 62, the Chairperson may request a member of Victoria Police to remove that person.

61. Suspensions

If the procedure specified in this clause is followed, Council may suspend a Councillor from a meeting and for the balance of the meeting.

A Councillor must not be suspended unless:

- a) the Chairperson has warned the Councillor that his or her actions are disrupting the business of Council and impeding its orderly conduct; and
- b) the Mayor directs the Councillor to leave the meeting because the behaviour of the Councillor is preventing the Council from conducting its business.

A Councillor must not refuse to leave a meeting when ordered to do so in accordance with this clause.

62. Gallery to be silent

Visitors must not interject or take part in any debate or in any other way interrupt the business of the meeting.

Members of the gallery must be silent at all times.

If any visitor is called to order by the Chairperson and thereafter again acts in breach of this Rule, the Chairperson may order him or her to leave the gallery.

A person must not refuse or neglect to leave a meeting when ordered to do so under this clause.

63. Questions from Councillors

At the discretion of the Chairperson, questions from Councillors to Council Officers or to other Councillors, may be disallowed if it is considered they are asked for purposes other than the simple soliciting of information.

64. Procedure not provided in this Rule

In all cases not specifically provided for by this Rule, the matter may be determined by Council resolution.

65. Extraordinary Meeting

The Mayor or at least 3 Councillors may by a written notice call an extraordinary Council Meeting;

- a) The notice must specify the date and time of the extraordinary Council meeting and the business to be transacted;
- b) The Chief Executive Officer must call the extraordinary meeting as specified in the notice;
- c) Unless all Councillors are present and unanimously agree to deal with another matter, only the business specified in the notice is be transacted.

66. Delegated Committees

A delegated committee means a committee established by Council under section 63 of the Act, or a joint delegated committee established by 2 or more Councils under section 64, or a committee (other than a community asset committee) exercising any power of a Council under the Act or any other Act delegated to the committee under the Act or any other Act.

Council may from time to time establish one or more delegated committees comprising the following:

- a) at least 2 Councillors; and
- b) may include any other persons appointed to the delegated committee by the Council who are entitled to vote. If Council establishes a delegated committee, this Rule will apply to meetings of the delegated committee with any necessary modifications.

For this purpose:

- c) a Council Meeting is to be read as a reference to a meeting of the delegated committee;
- d) a Councillor is to be read as a reference to a member of the delegated committee.
- e) the Mayor is to be read as a reference to the Chairperson of the delegated committee.

A meeting of a delegated committee established by Council must be chaired by a Councillor, appointed by the Council or the Mayor, to chair meetings.

The Mayor may appoint a Councillor to be the chair of a delegated committee overriding any prior Council appointment.

If Council establishes a delegated committee subject to the Act, Council may resolve that a provision of this Rule does not apply to that Committee.

The agenda for delegated committees will be relevant to the issues which are to be raised at the relevant meeting.

Minutes of meetings of delegated committees will be taken.

If the minutes of any meeting of a delegated committee include a recommendation to Council, the Chief Executive Officer must ensure that such recommendation is reported to the next convenient Council Meeting.

67. Submissions by any person whose rights will be directly affected by a Council decision

A Council or delegated committee must hear any person whose right will be directly affected by a Council decision and wishes to be heard in respect of their submission to Council and to have their interests considered by Council or a delegated committee which is responsible for making the decision.

Committee members may question any submitter in relation to their submission.

Each speaker is allowed three minutes to speak to their submission.

The Chairperson may use his/her discretion to allow an extension of time for up to a further one minute.

Anyone making a submission and not wishing to appear in person can be represented by another person specified in the submission. Submitters will be requested to disclose any personal or professional interests in the subject matter of their submission.

68. Other public submissions

In addition delegated committees may also hear submitters on any items listed on the delegated committee agenda where the person has made application to speak to an item in accordance with Council's procedures.

In respect of these submissions, the Chairperson may, in the case where there are several people representing a common position, encourage the submitters to nominate a single person to speak on the matter.

A person can speak on their own behalf for up to three minutes. They may also speak on behalf of one other person or organisation/company for a further period of up to three minutes. No person may speak on behalf of more than one other person or organisation/company, unless Council or the Committee specifically resolves to allow them to do so.

No person is permitted to speak on behalf of an absent submitter or organisation/company unless he/she is authorised in writing by the absent submitter or by an authorised officer of the organisation/company to address Council on their behalf, such document to be tabled by the speaker. Any person so authorised may only read from a written statement prepared by the absent submitter.

APPENDIX 1

1. Cross-Reference to Local Government Act 2020

Meeting Procedure clause	Subject	Section of Local Government Act 2020	
2	Power to make this Governance Rule	 60 Governance Rules (1) A Council must develop, adopt and keep in force Governance Rules for or with respect to the following— (a) the conduct of Council meetings; (b) the conduct of meetings of delegated committees; (c) the form and availability of meeting records; 	
5	Definitions	Local Government Act 1989	
	"Authorised	224 Authorised officers	
	Officer"	 A Council may appoint any person other than a Councillor to be an authorised officer for the purposes of the administration and enforcement of any Act, regulations or local laws which relate to the functions and powers of the Council. A Council must maintain a register that shows the person of all persons of the council best of all persons of all persons of the council. 	
		the names of all people appointed by it to be authorised officers.	
		(2) The Council must issue an identity card to each authorised officer.	
		(3) An identity card must—	
		 (a) contain a photograph of the authorised officer; and 	
		 (b) contain the signature of the authorised officer; and 	
		(c) be signed by a member of Council staff appointed for the purpose.	
		(3A) If a Council appoints a police officer to be an authorised officer under subsection (1), for the purposes of this section the police officer's certificate of identity is deemed to be an identity card issued under section 224(2) and is deemed to comply with section 224(3).	

Meeting Procedure clause	Subject	Section of Local Government Act 2020		
		(4)	An authorised officer must produce his or her identity card upon being requested to do so.	
		(5)	An action taken or thing done by an authorised person is not invalidated by the failure of an authorised officer to produce his or her identity card.	
		(6)	For the purposes of this section, an authorised officer may demand the name and address of a person who has committed, or who the authorised officer reasonably suspects has committed or is about to commit, an offence against any Act, regulation or local law in respect of which he or she is appointed.	
		(6A)	(6A) In making such a demand, the authorised officer must inform the person of the grounds on which the demand is made in sufficient detail to enable the person to understand the nature of the offence or suspected offence.	
			10 penalty units.	
		(7) An authorised officer may enter any land or building in the municipal district at any reasonable time to carry out and enforce this or any other Act or any regulation or local law.		
		(8)	(8) A person is guilty of an offence and liable to a fine not exceeding 60 penalty units if he or she—	
			(a) refuses to give his or her name and address upon demand by an authorised officer; or	
			(b) obstructs or hinders an authorised officer while performing his or her duty; or	
			(c) falsely represents himself or herself to be an authorised officer.	
5	Definitions	63	Delegated committees	
	"Delegated Committee"	(1)	A delegated committee established by a Council—	
			(a) must include at least 2 Councillors; and	
			(b) may include any other persons appointed to the delegated committee by the Council who are entitled to vote.	

Meeting Procedure clause	Subject	Section of Local Government Act 2020	
		(2)	A meeting of a delegated committee established by a Council must be chaired by—
			 (a) a Councillor appointed by the Council or the Mayor to chair meetings of the delegated committee; or
			(b) if the Councillor appointed by the Council or the Mayor to chair meetings of the delegated committee is not present at the meeting, a Councillor who is present at the meeting and is appointed by the members of the delegated committee who are present at the meeting.
		(3)	Section 61 applies to a meeting of a delegated committee as if the members were Councillors.
6.3	Attendance at meetings	66	Meetings to be open to the public unless specified circumstances apply
		66(1) A Council or delegated committee must keep a meeting open to the public unless the Council or delegated committee considers it necessary to close the meeting to the public because a circumstance specified in subsection (2) applies.
		(2)	The circumstances are—
			(a) the meeting is to consider confidential information; or
			(b) security reasons; or
			(c) it is necessary to do so to enable the meeting to proceed in an orderly manner.
		(3)	If the circumstance specified in subsection (2)(b) or (2)(c) applies, the meeting can only be closed to the public if the Council or delegated committee has made arrangements to enable the proceedings of the meeting to be viewed by members of the public as the meeting is being held.
		(4)	For the purposes of subsection (3), the arrangements may include provision to view the proceedings on the Internet or on closed circuit television.
		(5)	If a Council or delegated committee determines that a meeting is to be closed to the public to consider confidential information, the Council or

Meeting Procedure clause	Subject	Section of Local Government Act 2020	
		delegated committee must rec of the meeting that are availab inspection—	
		 (a) the ground or grounds for close the meeting to the put to the grounds specified in <i>confidential information</i> and 	ublic by reference the definition of
		(b) an explanation of why the or grounds applied.	specified ground
7.1	Failure to raise or maintain a quorum	Council decision making wh cannot be maintained	ere quorum
) This section applies if a Counc a quorum because of the num who have a conflict of interest regard to a matter.	per of Councillors
) The Council must consider wh can be made by dealing with the alternative manner.	
) For the purposes of subsectior <i>alternative manner</i> may inclu	
		 (a) resolving to split the matter separate parts, so that a q maintained for each separate 	uorum can be
		(b) making prior decisions on of the matter at a meeting quorum can be maintained the overall matter at a mee quorum can be maintained	for which a l, before deciding eting for which a
) Subject to complying with any under any other Act, if a Counc an alternative manner, the Cou to establish a delegated comm decision in regard to the matte	cil is unable to use uncil must decide ittee to make the
		(a) all the Councillors who hav conflict of interest in regard and	
		(b) any other person or person considers suitable.	ns that the Council
) Section 63(2) applies to a dele established under subsection (

Meeting Procedure clause	Subject	Section of Local Government Act 2020	
		possible after excluding all the Councillors who have disclosed a conflict of interest in regard to the matter.	
14(j)	Record of Proceedings	66 Meetings to be open to the public unless specified circumstances apply	
	_	(2) The circumstances are—	
		(a) the meeting is to consider confidential information; or	
		(b) security reasons; or	
		(c) it is necessary to do so to enable the meeting to proceed in an orderly manner.	
21(e)	Public Question Time	66 Meetings to be open to the public unless specified circumstances apply	
		(2) The circumstances are—	
		(a) the meeting is to consider confidential information; or	
		(b) security reasons; or	
		(c) it is necessary to do so to enable the meeting to proceed in an orderly manner.	
61(5)(e)	Voting	61 Council meetings	
		(5) A question before a Council meeting is to be determined as follows—	
		 (e) for the purpose of determining the result of a vote, a Councillor present at the meeting who does not vote is to be taken to have voted against the question. 	
64	Removal from Chamber	19 Specific powers of the Mayor	
		(1) The Mayor has the following specific powers—	
		 (b) to direct a Councillor, subject to any procedures or limitations specified in the Governance Rules, to leave a Council meeting if the behaviour of the Councillor is preventing the Council from conducting its business; 	